Towards a pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Christine Bruce, John Bell, Susan Gasson, Shlomo Geva, Kerry Kruger, Kunle Oloyede, Peter O'Shea, Ian Stoodley, Kerry Raymond and Rod Wissler

Queensland University of Technology ALTC Fellowship 2008

Paper 4

09



Support for this Fellowship has been provided by the Australian Learning and Teaching Council, an initiative of the Australian Government Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations. The views expressed in this report do not necessarily reflect the views of the Australian Learning and Teaching Council Ltd.

This work is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-ShareAlike 2.5 Australia Licence. Under this Licence you are free to copy, distribute, display and perform the work and to make derivative works.

Attribution: You must attribute the work to the original authors and include the following statement: Support for the original work was provided by the Australian Learning and Teaching Council Ltd, an initiative of the Australian Government Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations.

Noncommercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.

Share Alike. If you alter, transform, or build on this work, you may distribute the resulting work only under a licence identical to this one.

For any reuse or distribution, you must make clear to others the licence terms of this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you get permission from the copyright holder.

To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.5/au/ or send a letter to Creative Commons, 543 Howard Street, 5th Floor, San Francisco, California, 94105, USA.

Requests and inquiries concerning these rights should be addressed to the Australian Learning and Teaching Council, PO Box 2375, Strawberry Hills NSW 2012 or through the website: http://www.altc.edu.au

2009

Fellowship team: Professor Christine Bruce (ALTC Fellow, QUT); Dr Ian Stoodley (Project Officer, FST, QUT); Dr Catherine Manathunga (Project Evaluator, UQ); Professor John Bell (Assistant Dean, BEE, QUT); Susan Gasson (Manager, Research Students Centre, QUT); Assoc Prof Shlomo Geva (HDR Director, FST, QUT); Kerry Kruger (Coordinator, Research Training, Research Students Centre, QUT); Professor Kunle Oloyede (HDR Coordinator, BEE, QUT); Professor Peter O'Shea (Professor, BEE, QUT); Professor Kerry Raymond (Assistant Dean, Research, FST, QUT); Professor Rod Wissler (Dean of Graduate Studies, QUT).

An e-version of this document may be found at:

http://www.altcexchange.edu.au/ http://eprints.qut.edu.au/

FOREWORD

This is the 4th of a series of papers around the pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines. The papers form part of an Australian Learning and Teaching Council Fellowship program conducted by ALTC Associate Fellow, Professor Christine Bruce, Queensland University of Technology.

This paper is written to provide:

- an overview of the pedagogical framework for higher degree research supervision developed for the technology disciplines as part of an ALTC fellowship program; and
- recommendations around the development of supervisory pedagogy in the technology disciplines.

For the purposes of this program, the technology disciplines are defined as including information technology and engineering as proposed by the ALTC. We are conscious, however, that like many of our fellow disciplines Information technology and Engineering are boundary-crossing fields.

Our intended audience for this paper is:

- administrators and leaders in the technology disciplines with a focus on higher degree research supervision; and
- the Australian Learning and Teaching Council.

PREVIOUS PAPERS

The purpose of Paper One: *Program plan and conceptual framework* (http://eprints.qut.edu.au/) was to:

- provide a brief summary of the intended directions of the ALTC program 'A Pedagogy of Supervision in the Technology disciplines'; and
- provide an overview of existing research outcomes which are likely to be of interest to the technology disciplines, including some cross disciplinary research and some focussed specifically on some part of the technology field.

The purpose of Paper Two: A review of the conversations and their content (http://eprints.qut.edu.au/) was to:

- document the processes through which data about technology supervisor's views of supervision as a teaching and learning practice were collected; and
- report key findings from workshops and interviews conducted with supervisors from the technology disciplines (Engineering and Technology).

The purpose of Paper Three: A pedagogical framework (http://eprints.qut.edu.au/) was to:

- present the pedagogical framework that has been derived from conversations with supervisors in the technology disciplines;
- present each part of the framework in a detailed way; and
- suggest ways in which parts of the framework might interrelate to influence practice.

FELLOWSHIP INFORMATION SHEET

Professor Christine Bruce

ALTC FELLOWSHIP PROFILE Nov 2008-Oct 2009 HDR Supervision in the Technology Disciplines Phone 07- 31382769 (wk) 38924623 (h)

Email c.bruce@qut.edu.au

Address Faculty of Science and Technology, QUT

2 George St, Brisbane, Q 4000

TALKING ABOUT SUPERVISION IN THE TECHNOLOGY DISCIPLINES

This program aims to develop a framework for the pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines. The framework will be developed by investigating technology discipline supervisors' thinking and by searching the relevant literature. The viewpoints of technology supervisors will be collected using a qualitative methodology.

The outcomes will support strategic change in higher education institutions for the enhancement of learning and teaching at the HDR level. HDR supervision and its diversity has been a significant national issue for some time. There is a considerable literature attending to both what should be learned and how it should be learned or taught. As yet, however, we have little understanding of the value of these concepts to supervisors in the technology disciplines.

Significance: The process will raise awareness of HDR supervision as a teaching and learning practice, encourage sharing of practices amongst supervisors, and enable reflection and learning from research and scholarship.

Goals:

- To investigate and document technology educators' ways of thinking about supervision as a teaching and learning practice.
- To develop a framework, representing key aspects of a pedagogy of supervision, for use by supervisors and leaders in the HDR context for enhancing HDR supervision in the technology disciplines.
- To design recommendations for taking this agenda forward in consultation with key stakeholders across Australia.

Key Fellowship Activities: All strategies are designed to raise awareness of HDR supervision as a teaching and learning practice in different ways.

STRATEGY 1: BRINGING THE PEDAGOGY OF SUPERVISION INTO FOCUS I. This will involve using interviews and focus groups to investigate and document technology educators' ways of thinking about supervision as a teaching and learning practice.

STRATEGY 2: BRINGING THE PEDAGOGY OF SUPERVISION INTO FOCUS II. This will involve drawing together existing research and scholarship with the outcomes from Strategy 1 to develop a framework for use by supervisors and leaders in the HDR context for enhancing HDR supervision in the technology disciplines.

STRATEGY 3: RAISING AWARENESS OF COMMON AND COMPLEMENTARY WAYS OF SEEING THE PEDAGOGY OF SUPERVISION IN THE TECHNOLOGY DISCIPLINES. This will involve designing recommendations for taking this agenda forward in consultation with key stakeholders.

Fellowship team: Professor Christine Bruce (ALTC Fellow, QUT); Dr Ian Stoodley (Project Officer, QUT); Dr Catherine Manathunga (Project Evaluator, UQ); Professor John Bell (Assistant Dean Research, BEE, QUT); Susan Gasson (Manager, Research Students Centre, QUT); Assoc Prof Shlomo Geva (Director of Research, SIT, FST, QUT); Kerry Kruger (Coordinator, Research Training, Research Students Centre, QUT); Professor Kunle Oloyede (HDR Coordinator, BEE, QUT); Professor Peter O'Shea (Professor, SES, BEE, QUT); Professor Kerry Raymond (Professor, FST, QUT); Professor Rod Wissler (Dean of Research and Research Training, QUT).



CONTENTS

Foreword	iii
Previous papers	iii
Fellowship Information Sheet	iv
Contents	v
Tables	vi
Introduction	1
Research supervision as a component of the teaching-research nexus	1
Thinking about supervision as a teaching and learning practice in the technology disciplines .	1
Overview of the program, and how the framework was developed	2
Development context	2
Development process	2
Using the framework for quality supervision	
Fellowship findings	
The framework	4
Influence of the environment on supervisory pedagogy	4
insights from the fellowship program	7
Key research findings	7
Recommendations arising	8
Recommendations for the technology disciplines	8
Recommendations for ALTC and other Stakeholders	8
Recommendations for student research and graduate training centres	8
Responses to framework	10
a) Responses from individuals – experienced supervisors	10
B) Responses from individuals – early career supervisors	10
C) Responses from supervisors in workshops	10
D) Responses from students	11
How framework draws from existing scholarship	12
How framework adds to existing scholarship	
Resources developed from program and availability	
References	
Bibliography	
Government and related documents	
Engineering	
Information Technology	
Interdisciplinary and cross disciplinary	
Views of research, supervision	20
Other disciplines	20

Supervisory roles and styles	. 21
Other useful materials	. 21
TABLES	
Table 1 The 0 nedegogies and related curriculum orientations	4
Table 1 The 9 pedagogies and related curriculum orientations	4
Table 2 Framework for thinking about the pedagogy of supervision	5
Table 3 Resources developed from the program	. 14

INTRODUCTION

"A model is a tangible aid to imagination and learning" (Morecroft 2004, p.102).

This fellowship program has drawn together existing research outcomes with new discipline specific insights, to create a pedagogical framework (see page 4 onwards) for the technology disciplines. The framework is based on technology supervisors' collective thinking about supervision as a teaching and learning practice.

RESEARCH SUPERVISION AS A COMPONENT OF THE TEACHING-RESEARCH NEXUS

Research supervision is an integral, but largely neglected, component of the teaching-research nexus. Researchers are used to:

- 1. researching their teaching;
- 2. teaching their research;
- 3. thinking about teaching (mostly at the undergraduate and honours levels) as a site of research practice, i.e. a space where students engage in research; and
- 4. thinking about teaching as a pathway to research.

This program focused on a dimension of the teaching-research nexus different from those listed above: research supervision as a site of teaching and learning practice.

THINKING ABOUT SUPERVISION AS A TEACHING AND LEARNING PRACTICE IN THE TECHNOLOGY DISCIPLINES

What do technology supervisors want their students to learn as they progress through candidature? How do technology supervisors see *research* and *learning to research*? How do supervisor aspirations compare with the broader aspirations of the university community, as expressed for example through graduate attributes? What are the barriers that supervisors experience to helping their candidates learn? How can we encourage supervisors to think about supervision as a teaching and learning practice?

While most scholarship in postgraduate study and supervision focuses on higher degree research study as a site of researcher training, this fellowship program adopts a research education lens (Boud and Lee, 2008). Scholars of research education are beginning to recognise that 'critical to how supervisors think about what they are doing when they supervise is whether they think of supervision as a teaching or as a research practice' (Brew and Peseta, 2008). In practice, while many universities position research higher degree research supervision at least in some respect as a teaching and learning practice, typically supervisors largely consider supervision as part of their research endeavour rather than as part of their teaching endeavour.

This program explored what it means to teach and to bring about learning from the perspective of research higher degree research supervisors in the technology disciplines.

It focussed on ways of thinking about research higher degree research study and supervision as a teaching and learning practice; especially around:

- 1. alternative supervisory pedagogies;
- 2. what supervisors want their students to learn; and
- 3. approaches and roles adopted in supervision.

OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAM, AND HOW THE FRAMEWORK WAS DEVELOPED

DEVELOPMENT CONTEXT

The pedagogical framework (see page 4 onwards) has been developed for the technology disciplines in the following contexts.

- The School of Information Technology, at Queensland University of Technology (QUT) is an example of a context where supervision capacity has not been large, but the number of higher degree research students has increased rapidly in a short period of time. The result being relatively inexperienced supervisors working with multiple candidates. Hammond and Ryland (2009) suggest this is likely to be a similar scenario in other places, given the high percentage of supervisors without completions across Australia.
- 2. The Faculty of Built Environment and Engineering, at QUT is an example of a context where supervision capacity has historically been strong but is increasingly under pressure due to higher student numbers (especially international students) and the recruitment of less experienced supervisors in areas of expertise that are new to the Faculty. The challenge is to maintain the quality of supervision under these circumstances by ensuring new supervisors get the support and training they need to be able to spread the supervision load more evenly across the Faculty.
- 3. **The technology disciplines at QUT** span a wide range of sub-disciplines, hence the fellowship worked across engineering, and technology, included architects, designers, librarians, and staff who's research crossed boundaries with law, medicine, education and other disciplines. A range of 'discipline' and 'cross-disciplinary' supervisors participated. Supervisors also worked with students of different genders, international students, and student with industry based projects.

DEVELOPMENT PROCESS

The framework was developed based on

- 1. Conversations with supervisors, in the form of interviews and workshops.
- 2. Analysis of the conversations to identify variation in ways of seeing various aspects of supervisory pedagogy, especially ways of seeing supervision as a teaching and learning practice, ways of seeing research and ways of seeing learning to research.
- 3. Logical alignment of different aspects of supervisory pedagogy with the nine ways of seeing supervision as a teaching and learning practice.
- 4. Modification of the framework based on feedback from stakeholders including early career and experienced supervisors.

All the participating supervisors who contributed were from the technology disciplines and their words about supervision are adopted to communicate key ideas. It is noteworthy that the resulting ideas do not always appear technology specific. However, the framework 'belongs' to the technology supervisors, in the sense that it comes from their discussion about what they do, rather than being created from external models and presented as 'a good thing'.

USING THE FRAMEWORK FOR QUALITY SUPERVISION.

The framework provides technology supervisors with a range of options available to them with respect to supervisory pedagogy. It has been developed to highlight different aspects of thinking about supervision as a teaching and learning practice; as well as approaches and strategies and roles associated with supervision.

It is essential, that, especially new supervisors, become aware of the diverse options available to them and are provided with systematic ways of thinking about their practices. Use of this framework will encourage supervisors to make choices based on broader, rather than more limited repertoires. It will also encourage thinking about supervision as a teaching and learning practice.

The framework may be used to:

- support less experienced supervisors looking for options in their approach to supervision as a teaching and learning practice; to help them identify possible roles, approaches, learning outcomes and ways of thinking about supervision;
- 2. support experienced supervisors in mentoring junior colleagues;
- 3. support experienced supervisors in refreshing their own supervision; and
- 4. support workshops and other development opportunities focused on supervisory pedagogy.

The benefits of thinking systematically about supervisory pedagogy may be simply evaluated through the use of questions such as:

- 1. How might your practice change?
- 2. How have you found this (workshops, materials, resources) useful?

FELLOWSHIP FINDINGS

THE FRAMEWORK

Technology supervisors reveal 9 pedagogies, representing different ways of thinking about teaching and learning in supervision. These 9 pedagogies align with wider curriculum orientations identifiable in the higher education sector (see Table 1 below).

Table 1 The 9 pedagogies and related curriculum orientations

9 Pedagogies (ways of thinking about teaching and learning in supervision in the technology disciplines)	Summary description	Curriculum orientations		
Upholding Academic Standards	Meeting the discipline and institutional communities'	Academic		
Opholaling Academile Standards	expectations	Discipline		
Imparting Academic Expertise	Conveying expertise in research	Competency		
	processes	Competency		
Promoting Learning to Research	Meeting students' learning needs	Learning to Learn		
Promoting Supervisors' Development	Pursuing the supervisor's established			
Promoting Supervisors Development	objectives	Personal		
Enabling Students' Davidonment	Seeking students' academic and	Relevance		
Enabling Students' Development	professional maturity			
Contributing to Society	Having social impact	Social Impact		
Venturing into Hanvaland Tamitan	Discovering the research agenda			
Venturing into Unexplored Territory	together	Callabarativa		
Drawing upon Student Expertise	Building from existing student abilities	 Collaborative 		
Forming Productive Communities	Drawing key stakeholders together	•		

The 9 pedagogies may be drawn together with other elements of supervisory practice to form a framework for supervision (see Table 2 on the next page).

The different elements of supervisory practice are expanded in resources developed for supervisors as part of the fellowship program. They are also illustrated through a set of cases. These resources are listed in a later section of this paper: Resources developed from program and availability, p. 14.

INFLUENCE OF THE ENVIRONMENT ON SUPERVISORY PEDAGOGY

Technology supervisors also identify significant helps and barriers to realising their pedagogies, including facets of People and Culture, Resources, and Synergies. Interestingly, the helps and barriers mirror each other, for example deadlines and higher degree research administrative processes can be seen as helps in some circumstances and barriers in other contexts.

Table 2 Framework for thinking about the pedagogy of supervision

Pedagogies						Supervisors primarily see research as	Supervisors primarily see students learning to research as	Supervisors' suggested roles	Curriculum
Supervisors see teaching research students as	Supervisors direct attention towards	Supervisors' approaches		Sample learning outcomes					
Upholding academic standards Meeting the discipline and institutional communities' expectations	Established academic standards	•	Scaffolding Direction-setting	•	quality publications topic expertise	Substantial Working rigorously on difficult problems, resulting in important breakthroughs	Accepting constraints Disciplined application of basic skills to new areas	Manager	Academic discipline
Imparting academic expertise Conveying expertise in research processes	Supervisor's knowledge and skills	•	Scaffolding Relationship	•	academic writing literature review technical skills	Investigative Strategic, evidence-based problem solving	Being apprenticed Imitating a master	Manager	Competency
Promoting learning to research Meeting students' learning needs	Students' learning needs	•	Scaffolding Relationship	•	to become an expert reflection study habits	Meaning-making Seeking meaning through the synthesis of complex data or knowledge	Journeying Self-discovery by trial and error, towards independence	Coach	Learning to learn
Promoting the supervisor's development Pursuing the supervisor's established objectives	Supervisor's research agenda	•	Direction-setting	•	join established team enter supervisor's projects	Deepening Increasing self awareness through an iterative process	Focussing Pursuing mature, world-class expertise	Director	l Personal relevance
Enabling student development Seeking students' academic and professional maturity	Student maturity	•	Relationship	•	mature researcher question status quo			Nurturer	Personal

Pedagogies					Supervisors		m Suo
Supervisors see teaching research students as	Supervisors direct attention towards	Supervisors' approaches	Sample learning outcomes	Supervisors primarily see research as	primarily see students learning to research as	Supervisors' suggested roles	Curriculum
Contributing to society Having social impact	Society's needs	Direction-settingRelationship	 develop innovative solutions 	Productive Usefully satisfying a range of stakeholders	Contributing Exploring positive impact on others	Partner	Social impact
Venturing into unexplored territory Discovering the research agenda together	New frontiers	Direction-settingRelationship	employ out-of-the- box thinking			Colleague	,e
Drawing upon student expertise Building from existing student abilities	Student's contribution	 Relationship 	become world expertteach the supervisor	 Explorative Following speculative leads which challenge norms 	Stretching <i>Being stretched into new areas</i>	Guide	Collaborative
Forming productive communities Drawing key stakeholders together	Community's contribution	Direction-settingRelationship	develop networksspan disciplines	HOTHIS		Colleague	ŏ

Note: As supervisors... a) We may 'locate' our supervision in different parts of the framework in different contexts; b) We are unlikely to ever adopt only one frame, but we are more likely to blend more than one frame in response to variables like the student's need, the topic, the stage of candidature; c) We may emphasise, or prefer to identify with, particular parts of the framework; d) We could deliberately choose to adopt aspects most appropriate to our circumstances.

INSIGHTS FROM THE FELLOWSHIP PROGRAM

Specific insights from the fellowship program include:

- Supervisors seek many learning outcomes from candidature which have strong alignment with institutional graduate capabilities.
- Large numbers of research students provide a natural impetus for collaboration between supervisors in the supervision process and the use of group supervision strategies.
- Technology senior administrators are committed to providing opportunities for experienced supervisors to reflect on their practice, and developmental opportunities for less experienced supervisors.
- Contexts in which there is rapid (albeit planned) growth of research student numbers place significant strain on both experienced and less experienced supervisors.
- Technology supervisors prefer oral and group oriented modes of staff development to individual text based modes.
- Technology supervisors did not draw attention to any externally available resources or development opportunities in discussing helps and barriers to supervision.
- Some supervisors appear to remain uncertain about the alignment of graduate capabilities with their directions (due to lack of alignment between the language of the capabilities and the language they use to convey their intentions).
- The framework developed through the fellowship program integrates many known aspects of supervision, providing a whole picture.
- Many parts of the framework are supported through existing development opportunities.

KEY RESEARCH FINDINGS

Technology supervisors:

- seek a broad set of learning outcomes for the higher degree research process which align with institutional graduate capabilities;
- use a wide range of supervisory strategies akin to those found in other disciplines;
- reveal 9 different way of thinking about supervision as a teaching and learning practice;
- reveal distinctive and varied ways of thinking about research and learning to research;
- do not, as a broad group, reveal any 'signature pedagogy'; and
- focus primarily on issues of process, rather than 'discipline content', when discussing teaching and learning aspects of supervision.

RECOMMENDATIONS ARISING

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE TECHNOLOGY DISCIPLINES

- 1. Promote a vision of pedagogical excellence in supervision as a critical element of quality in research training.
- 2. Adopt, and adapt where required, the pedagogical framework and supporting resources as development tools for supervisors.
- 3. Create opportunities for supervisory conversations around pedagogy to promote communication about supervision as a teaching and learning practice.
- 4. Create development opportunities for less experienced supervisors, such as quarterly meetings of members of this community to discuss supervisory issues and strategies.
- 5. Formally establish mentors for less experienced supervisors (i.e. supervisors without completions experience).
- 6. Increase support for supervisors and students; for example, by creating positions that will help supervisors and students achieve aspects of the higher degree research capability agenda.
- 7. Establish faculty level awards for excellence in higher degree research supervision.
- 8. Increase the cohort of post-doc researchers to provide career paths and to assist with the regeneration of supervision pedagogy.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ALTC AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

- 9. Seek deeper understandings of the higher degree research curriculum as seen from supervisor and student perspectives.
- 10. Further develop the pedagogy of supervision framework within the disciplines of IT and Engineering.
- 11. Adapt and develop the pedagogy of supervision framework in relation to other disciplines.
- 12. Develop resources associated with the framework electronic resources, video vignettes etc, for the technology disciplines.
- 13. Consider supporting a large scale survey of the views and practices of individual supervisors in relation to graduate capabilities, as suggested by Borthwick and Wissler (2003, p.10).
- 14. Consider awards and grants particularly focused on the higher degree research and supervision arena¹.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR STUDENT RESEARCH AND GRADUATE TRAINING CENTRES

- 15. Make the Pedagogy of Supervision framework available to technology supervisors as part of the Student Research Centre standard suite of resources.
- 16. Link existing 'graduate capability statements' with expressions of learning outcomes using the words of supervisors from the technology disciplines, to assist with supervisor buy in to the agenda.
- 17. Adapt and develop the framework in relation to other disciplines. For example, if technology specific identifiers were removed it may be of use in other spaces.
- 18. Link supervisors to resources on a needs basis e.g. link aspects of the technology framework to specific existing resources that will provide further development in the area.

¹ This recommendation is very similar to Recommendation 7 in Borthwick and Wissler (2003, p.7): Request AUTC to consider an award category for collaborative programs in the postgraduate arena.

- 19. Request technology (and other) faculties to work with supervisors and students to adapt university higher degree research graduate capabilities to the faculty's disciplinary context, for instance by providing examples of planned learning outcomes that relate to each capability within the faculty context.
- 20. Propose faculty or school level awards for excellence in higher degree research supervision and identify markers of excellence, including clarity of pedagogical intent.
- 21. Survey students about their higher degree research learning experiences, at the point of completion of candidature.
- 22. Incorporate aspects of the framework into programs for students post submission of the detailed research proposal.

RESPONSES TO FRAMEWORK

A) RESPONSES FROM INDIVIDUALS – EXPERIENCED SUPERVISORS

- It helped me reflect on the way my supervision had evolved.
- This makes you realize you've got to think of new ways of doing things.
- I am very intense in supervision. My students have complete structure. Perhaps they should have freedom to chase shadows.
- I may be too intuitive, too much emphasis on ideas. I need to adopt more of a planning approach.
- I need to think more about supervision as a group activity other than one-on-one.
- I do not use the word "pedagogical" why not just say "teaching"?
- I like the quotes they make it personal and give me something concrete to identify with.
- It's good to have time to reflect and consider new approaches and ideas.

B) RESPONSES FROM INDIVIDUALS – EARLY CAREER SUPERVISORS

- As a soon-to-be supervisor this gives me ideas about how I might approach and plan my
 'supervision style'. I may develop a more structured yet individual framework that includes more
 attention to graduate capabilities.
- I have never thought about my supervision at a methodological level before, nor have I analysed the methods that I have applied in my supervision. These materials inspired me to think about supervision at a high level and in a systematic way.
- I can use supervisory roles for thinking about how different members of the supervisory team can contribute, work together.
- I can see how I could use all of the approaches to supervision in different balances for different students, but how can I transition from one approach to another?
- This is a really comprehensive work and the papers are very well structured and presented. They are definitely useful and helpful for us to improve our supervision... inspire me to think about supervision at a high level and in a systematic way.

C) RESPONSES FROM SUPERVISORS IN WORKSHOPS

- I will incorporate this framework into my supervision. Particularly, I will focus more on outcomes. It will provide an interesting opportunity to track the success of different supervisory techniques with different students.
- It gave time to reflect and consider new approaches and ideas.
- It has reinforced my respect for the wisdom and expertise of my academic colleagues.
- I didn't realise I was so passionate about Higher Ed!
- Great catalyst for reflection. I would also like more strategies that I can apply directly in my supervision.
- I will consider other pedagogies. For example, I have not previously given much thought to 'contributing to society'. Also I can see that some pedagogies may be useful for different periods of a student's candidacy.
- It is great to have these resources, as there are few materials so concise for postgrad supervision. I have learnt we (PhD supervisors) have and use a lot of common strategies for supervision.

- This pack is well put together and provides many angles that could be useful. I like the concise nature and the quotes from the interviewed supervisors.
- This has crystallized some of my thoughts on supervision and also provided some stimulus for viewpoints I had not considered.
- I now realise the contradictions within ideas/views I thought I held.
- I may now be more varied for different students, and at different stages of candidature.
- Like the pack. First time anybody has provided the comprehensive list/overview of the outcomes, desires and processes of supervision.

D) RESPONSES FROM STUDENTS

- This could be useful for students
- It gives insight into my supervisors' approach. I wonder if it could show how I can identify my supervisor's view and why this is their view.
- It could help identify different expectations, especially in the initial stages of the candidacy.
- If you know your supervisor's style, you can understand them better and think about how to manage them.
- The teaching views connect clearly with the learning views.
- Supervisors need to see how students see these things, too.
- My preferred supervisor would have a bit of everything!
- This would be a good communication tool, to open up conversations and explain why supervisors/students are doing some things.
- Maybe it would help to have a third party act as a mediator, to help supervisors and students talk about their different expectations.
- The roles help draw the ideas together under one heading.

HOW FRAMEWORK DRAWS FROM EXISTING SCHOLARSHIP

A wide range of existing cross-disciplinary scholarship associated with the pedagogy of supervision, in particular research and scholarship associated with the conceptions of research, conceptions of supervision, conceptions of learning to research has been explored as part of this fellowship program.

This material, and other papers associated with supervision in the technology disciplines, was used to:

- a) identify literature on supervision in the technology disciplines that has been previously scattered or difficult to access;
- b) develop a conceptual framework;
- c) inform 'gaps' in the pedagogical framework constructed through investigating the experience of technology supervisors; and
- d) make succinct summaries of selected scholarship in resources developed for technology supervisors.

Pre -existing scholarship associated with researching learning in higher education informed the conceptual framework and approaches to engaging supervisors in conversation through various parts of the program.

In particular, the views of learning and approaches to researching learning associated with phenomenography (Marton and Booth 1997, Bowden and Marton 1998, Bowden and Green 2005, Bowden and Walsh 2000), made it possible to identify significant variation in ways of thinking about supervision as teaching and learning. These approaches also provided the platform for focusing on supervisors' 'objects', intentions and strategies.

The framework itself does not refer directly to previous scholarship, because the views represented in the framework were derived from conversations with technology supervisors. Related scholarship is, however, represented in the conceptual framework informing this program and also is referred to in resources developed for supervisors to provide them with the broader scholarly context.

HOW FRAMEWORK ADDS TO EXISTING SCHOLARSHIP

The fellowship advances knowledge by:

- a) identifying details of aspects of supervision associated with teaching and learning from the
 perspective of members of the technology community. Aspects included 3 approaches to
 supervisory pedagogy, 8 strategies used, 6 views of research, 6 views of learning to research, a wide
 range of learning outcomes articulated in the language of supervisors and 3 key roles adopted;
- b) identifying 9 'pedagogies' of supervision in the technology disciplines. The pedagogies represent ways of thinking about supervision as teaching and learning. They are artificial constructs intended to inform supervisors and provide a vehicle for self reflection and the identification of options; it is not expected that individuals would be readily identifiable with single pedagogies, but rather that they would locate themselves across the 9 pedagogies; and
- c) drawing those aspects of supervision attended to in the technology disciplines into a pedagogical framework. Each pedagogy may be logically or analytically aligned with the various aspects of supervision identified.

The program extends and contributes to existing research and scholarship being conducted internationally. In particularly it contributes to scholarship around researchers' and research students' ways of seeing and

thinking about research and learning to research, an area where Australian higher educators (for example, Angela Brew, Margot Pearson, Margaret Kiley and Gerlese Åkerlind) play a lead role.

The concepts of research education and supervision as a teaching and learning practice been promoted widely by Australian educational leaders, especially Mark Tennant, David Boud, Alison Lee, amongst others. In the US, the Carnegie Foundation has completed a project supporting universities in scrutinising and making public their supervisory practice. (More detail is available in Paper 1 from this Fellowship.). This project focuses these directions on the technology disciplines.

RESOURCES DEVELOPED FROM PROGRAM AND AVAILABILITY

A range of resources have been made available from this program to support supervisors in the technology disciplines. These are accessible to individuals and groups via the ALTC exchange (http://www.altcexchange.edu.au/) and some material also through QUT e-prints (http://eprints.qut.edu.au/).

The materials are freely available for use and adaptation in workshops and other development programs.

Table 3 Resources developed from the program

Resource type	•	Title
Papers	1.	Bruce, C. & Stoodley, I. (2009) <i>Fellowship plan and conceptual framework.</i> (Towards a pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines series.) Brisbane: QUT.
	2.	Bruce, C., Stoodley, I. & Gasson, S. (2009) A review of the conversations and their content. (Towards a pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines series.) Brisbane: QUT.
	3.	Bruce, C. & Stoodley, I. (2009) A pedagogical framework for the technology disciplines. (Towards a pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines series.) Brisbane: QUT.
	4.	Bruce, C., Bell, J., Gasson, S., Geva, S., Kruger, K., Oloyede, K., O'Shea, P., Stoodley, I., Raymond, K. & Wissler, R. (2009) <i>Summary and recommendations</i> . (Towards a pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines series.) Brisbane: QUT.
Resources	5.	Bruce, C. & Stoodley, I. (2009) <i>Resource for supervisors</i> . (Towards a pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines series.) Brisbane: QUT.
	6.	Bruce, C. & Stoodley, I. (2009) <i>Student resources for the use of supervisors.</i> (Towards a pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines series.) Brisbane: QUT.
Workshops	7.	Bruce, C. & Stoodley, I. (2009) <i>Workshop for supervisors</i> . (Towards a pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines series.) Brisbane: QUT.
Cases	8.	Bruce, C. & Stoodley, I. (2009) <i>Cases from the technology disciplines</i> . (Towards a pedagogy of supervision in the technology disciplines series.) Brisbane: QUT.

Our intended audience for Papers 1-3 is:

- supervisors, administrators and academic developers in the technology disciplines who are interested in the views of their colleagues about supervision as a teaching and learning practice; and
- colleagues and academic developers in other disciplines who are interested in views from the technology disciplines about supervision as a teaching and learning practice.

Our intended audience for Paper 4 is:

administrators and policy-makers who require a succinct overview of the program outcomes.

Our intended audience for the Resource, Cases and Workshops is:

• supervisors at all levels of experience.

REFERENCES

- Borthwick, J. & Wissler, R. (2003) Postgraduate students and generic capabilities: Online directions.

 Retrieved October 6, 2009, from

 http://www.dest.gov.au/sectors/research_sector/publications_resources/profiles/postgrad_students
 _workplace.htm
- Boud, D. & Lee, A. (Eds.) (2008) Changing practices of doctoral education. London: Routledge.
- Bowden, J. & Green, P. (Eds.) (2005) *Doing developmental phenomenography.* Melbourne: RMIT University Press.
- Bowden, J. & Walsh, E. (Eds.) (2000) Phenomenography. Melbourne: RMIT University Press.
- Brew, A. & Peseta, T. (2008) Supervision development and recognition in a reflexive space, in D. Boud and A. Lee (Eds), *Changing practices of doctoral education* (pp. 126-140). London: Routledge.
- Hammond, J. & Ryland, K. (2009) *Interim analysis of a survey of higher degree research supervisors in Australia and New Zealand*. University Graduate School, University of Technology Sydney. Retrieved May 15, 2009, from http://www.first.edu.au/public/Carrick/Research_supervisor_survey.pdf
- Marton, F. & Booth, S. (1997) Learning and awareness. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum
- Morecroft, J. (2004) Mental models and learning in system dynamics practice. In M. Pidd (Ed.), *Systems modelling: Theory and practice* (pp. 101-126). Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

GOVERNMENT AND RELATED DOCUMENTS

- Australian Government (2008) *Review of Australian higher education: Final report.* 'Bradley Report' Retrieved October 6, 2009, from
 - http://www.deewr.gov.au/HigherEducation/Review/Documents/PDF/Higher%20Education%20Review_one%20document_02.pdf
 - [A review to advise the Commonwealth Government of Australia on higher education reform. It proposes radical changes to address current problems, including student distribution between institutions, funding arrangements, social inclusion methods, student income support systems and research funding arrangements.]
- Australian Labor (2007) Scholarships for a competitive future: Federal labor's plan for improved and expanded commonwealth scholarships. Retrieved 2008, from http://www.alp.org.au/media/1107/msloo144.php
- Commonwealth of Australia (2008) Research training in Australian universities: An interim report. 'House of Representatives Report'. Retrieved October 6, 2009, from http://www.aph.gov.au/house/committee/isi/research/interim_report/fullreport.pdf [Identifies the need for more funding for research and development, better coverage of the full cost of research, more adequate support of postgraduate students and an expansion of career pathways for researchers.]
- Council of Deans and Directors of Graduate Studies (2008) Framework for best practice in doctoral research education in Australia. Retrieved 7 October, 2009, from http://www.ddogs.edu.au/download/1383841686
- Cumming, J. (2007) *Representing the complexity, diversity and particularity of the doctoral enterprise in Australia*. PhD Thesis. Australian National University.
- Cutler & Company Pty Ltd (2008) *Venturous Australia report: Building strength in innovation*. Retrieved October 6, 2009, from http://www.innovation.gov.au/innovationreview/Documents/NIS_review_Web3.pdf [Report of a review of the National Innovation System, which includes a call for increased funding of research in universities and an observation that "the system requires renewal, refurbishment,
- Graduate Careers Australia, ACER (2007) *Postgraduate research experience 2006. Report of the Postgraduate Research Experience Questionnaire.* Parkville: Graduate Careers Australia.

recasting and where necessary re-imagining."]

Hammond, J. & Ryland, K. (2009) *Interim analysis of a survey of higher degree research supervisors in Australia and New Zealand*. University Graduate School, University of Technology Sydney. Retrieved May 15, 2009, from http://www.first.edu.au/public/Carrick/Research_supervisor_survey.pdf [Provides a summary of the outcomes of a survey of 1884 Australian and New Zealand university supervisors, concerning their supervisory practices, resources and future needs. Includes responses concerning supervisors' load, priorities, support and views on research.]

- Neumann, R. (2003) *The doctoral education experience: Diversity and complexity*. Department of Education, Science and Training, Australia. Retrieved March 14, 2009, from http://www.dest.gov.au/NR/rdonlyres/873B3698-F3BA-4D86-869C-0C3C6DB95658/804/03_12.pdf [Reports on a study of doctoral students, supervisors and administrators, in order to offer insight into the doctoral experience. Influencers include institution, discipline, mode of enrolment and resources. The relationship between student and supervisor is examined.]
- Sinclair, M. (2004) The pedagogy of good PhD supervision: A national cross-disciplinary investigation of PhD supervision. Retrieved March 14, 2007, from http://www.dest.gov.au/sectors/higher education/publications resources/summaries brochures/the-pedagogy of good phd supervision.htm

[Reports on a study of Australian doctoral students and supervisors from 28 universities. University type and research discipline influence timely completions, with higher rates from the more prestigious universities and from the natural sciences. Commentary is offered on the degree of involvement of supervisors with their students and the structure of the candidature.]

ENGINEERING

- Aplay, E. & Mendes-Tatsis, M.A. (2000) Postgraduate training in student learning and teaching. *European Journal of Engineering Education 25*(1), 83-97.
- Baillie, C., Emanuellson, J. & Marton, F. (2001) Building knowledge about the interface. *Composites Part A:*Applied science and manufacturing 32(3-4), 305-312.
- Bills, D. (2004) Supervisors' conceptions of research and the implications for supervisor development. *International Journal for Academic Development 9*(1), 85-97.
- Drouin, G. & Bourgeois, M. (1996) *Innovative measures to improve performances and supervision in post-graduate studies*. In Proceedings of the 1996 American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference.
- Haksever, A.M. & Manisali, E. (2000). Assessing supervision requirements of PhD students: The case of construction management and engineering in the UK. *European Journal of Engineering Education* 25(1), 19-32.
- McClure, J.W. (2005) Preparing a laboratory-based thesis: Chinese international research students' experiences of supervision. *Teaching in Higher Education 10*(1), 3-16.
- Murphy, N. (2004) *Orientations to research higher degree supervision: The interrelatedness of beliefs about supervision, research, teaching and learning.* PhD Thesis, Griffith University, Brisbane.
- Tumer, I.Y. & Arthur, L.F. (1998) *Benefits of team-teaching for doctoral students preparing for academic careers*. In Proceedings of the 1998 American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference.
- Wasburn, M. (2002) *Creating community: A pilot program for doctoral students*. In Proceedings of the 2002 American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference.
- Wolf, L. (2006) *Doctoral degrees in engineering technology: What are the real issues?* In Proceedings of the 2006 American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY²

- Bruce, C.S., Pham, B. & Stoodley, I. (2004) Constituting the significance and value of research: Views from information technology academics and industry professionals. *Studies in Higher Education 29*(2), 219-239.
- Bruce, C., Stoodley, I. & Pham, B. (2009) Doctoral students' experience of information technology research. Studies in Higher Education 34(2), 203-221.
- Bruce, C.S., Pham, B.L. & Stoodley, I.D. (2005) *The collective consciousness of information technology research. Research students' ways of seeing information technology research: its objects and territories.* Retrieved March 2, 2009, from http://eprints.qut.edu.au/1755/1/1755a.pdf
- Crossouard, B. (2008). Developing alternative models of doctoral supervision with online formative assessment. *Studies in Continuing Education 30*(1), 51-67.
- International Journal of Doctoral Studies. URL http://ijds.org/
- Jameson, J. (2002). Intuitive expertise in ICT graduate supervision. ALT-J 10(3), 92-105.
- Lister, R. (2007) *Differing ways that computing academics understand teaching*. In Proceedings of the 9th Australasian Conference on Computing Education, Ballarat, Australia. Retrieved March 2, 2009 from http://crpit.com/confpapers/CRPITV66Lister.pdf
- Pham, B, Bruce, C & Stoodley, I. (2005) Constituting information technology research: the experience of IT researchers. *Higher Education Research and Development 24*(3), 215-232.
- Ratkic, A. (2009) Dialogue seminars as a tool in post graduate education. Al & Society 23(1), 99-109.

INTERDISCIPLINARY AND CROSS DISCIPLINARY

- Adkins, B. (2009) PhD pedagogy and the changing knowledge landscapes of universities. *Higher Education Research & Development 28*(2), 165-177.
- Barron, D. & Zeegers, M. (2002) 'O' for Osmosis, 'P' for Pedagogy: Fixing the postgraduate Wheel of Fortune. Paper presented at the AARE Conference, 2002.
- Bartlett, A. & Mercer, G. (2000) Reconceptualising discourses of power in postgraduate pedagogies. *Teaching in Higher Education* 5(2), 195-204.
- Boud, D. & Lee, A. (Eds.) (2008) Changing practices of doctoral education. London: Routledge.
- Brew, A. & Peseta, T. (2008) Supervision development and recognition in a reflexive space. In D. Boud and A. Lee (Eds.), *Changing practices of doctoral education* (pp. 126-140). London: Routledge.

² We were surprised to find that there was so little scholarship on this topic around information technology supervision, compared with Engineering. We searched Ebsco, Proquest, Springer Link: ("information systems" OR "comput*" OR "security") AND ("higher education" AND supervision/doctoral supervision), as well as various other permutations, and even got the faculty librarian in to help, to little advantage.

- Bruce, C. S. (2008) Informed learning. Chicago: Association of College and Research Libraries.
- Burnett, P.C. (1999) The supervision of doctoral dissertations using a collaborative cohort model. *Counselor Education & Supervision 39*(1), 46-52.
- Craswell, G.C. (2007) Deconstructing the skills training debate in doctoral education. *Higher Education Research & Development 26*(4), 377-392.
- Delamont, S., Parry, O. & Atkinson, P. (1998) Creating a delicate balance: The doctoral supervisor's dilemmas. *Teaching in Higher Education* 3(2), 157-172.
- Drennan, J. & Clarke, M. (2009) Coursework master's programmes: The student's experience of research and research supervision. *Studies in Higher Education 34*(5), 483-500.
- Grigg, L. (1999) Cross disciplinary research: A discussion paper. Canberra: Australian Research Council.
- Grigg, L. (2003) Emerging issues for cross-disciplinary research. Canberra: Commonwealth Dept of Education, Science and Training. Retrieved March 15, 2009, from http://www.dest.gov.au/NR/rdonlyres/A8D5BFD0-F49C-4D3C-A6E6-6F6FB8B9394D/1425/cross_disc.pdf
- Hakala, J. (2009) Socialization of junior researchers in new academic research environments: Two case studies from Finland. *Studies in Higher Education 34*(5), 501-516.
- Hasrati, M. (2005) Legitimate peripheral participation and supervising PhD students. *Studies in Higher Education 30*(5), p557-570.
- Hockey, J. (1996) Motives and meaning amongst PhD Supervisors in the Social Sciences. *British Journal of Sociology of Education* 17(4), 489-506.
- Johnson, D. (2005) Assessment matters: Some issues concerning the supervision and assessment of work-based doctorates. *Innovations in Education & Teaching International 42*(1), 87-92.
- Kamler, B. (2008) Rethinking doctoral publication practices: Writing from and beyond the thesis. *Studies in Higher Education 33*(3), 283-294.
- Kamler, B. & Thomson, P. (2004) Driven to abstraction: Doctoral supervision and writing pedagogies. *Teaching in Higher Education 9*(2), 195-209.
- Kiley, M. & Liljegren, D. (1999) Discipline related models for a structured program at the commencement of a PhD. *Teaching in Higher Education 4*(1), 61-73.
- Kiley, M., & Wisker, G. (2009). Threshold concepts in research education and evidence of threshold crossing. Higher Education Research and Development 28(4) 431-441
- Lee, A. (2008) How are doctoral students supervised? Concepts of doctoral research supervision. *Studies in Higher Education 33*(3), 267-281.
- Malfroy, J. (2005) Doctoral supervision, workplace research and changing pedagogic practices. *Higher Education Research & Development 24*(2), 165-178.
- Manathunga, C., Lant, P. & Mellick, G. (2006) Imagining an interdisciplinary doctoral pedagogy. *Teaching in Higher Education* 11(3), 365-379.
- Neumann, R. (2007) Policy and practice in doctoral education. Studies in Higher Education 32(4), 459-473.

- Smith, B. (2001) (Re)framing research degree supervision as pedagogy. In A. Bartlett & G. Mercer (Eds.), *Postgraduate research supervision: Transforming (r)elations (pp. 25-42)*. New York: Peter Lang.
- The California Endowment. (2006) *A conversation on boundary crossing leadership*. Retrieved July 27, 2008, from http://www.calendow.org/media center/boundrycross.htm
- Ulriksen, L. (2009) The implied student. Studies in Higher Education 34(5), 517-532.
- Willison, J. & O'Regan, K. (2007) Commonly known, commonly not known, totally unknown: A framework for students becoming researchers. *Higher Education Research and Development 26*(4), 393-410.

VIEWS OF RESEARCH, SUPERVISION

- Åkerlind, G. (2008) An academic perspective on the nature of research: a review and empirical extension of the literature. *Studies in Higher Education 33*(1), 17-31.
- Brew, A. (1999) *Conceptions of research and scholarship. Implications for higher education teaching and learning.* Paper presented at AARE/NZARE Conference, Melbourne.
- Brew, A. (2001) Conceptions of research: A phenomenographic study. *Studies in Higher Education 26*(3), 271-285.
- Brew, A. (2001) The nature of research: Inquiry in academic contexts. London: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Kiley, M. & Mullins, G. (2005) Supervisors' conceptions of research: what are they? *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research* 49(3), 245-262.
- Meyer, J., Shanahan, M., & Laugksch, R. (2005) Students' conceptions of research I: A qualitative and quantitative analysis. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research* 49(3), 225-244.
- Neumann, R. (1993) Research and scholarship: Perceptions of the senior academic administrators. *Higher Education 25*(2), 97-110.
- Prosser, M., Martin, E. Trigwell, K., Ramsden, P. & Middleton, H. (2008). University academics' experience of research and its relationship to their experience of teaching. *Instructional Science* 36(1), 3-16.
- Wood, K. (2006) Changing as a person: the experience of learning to research in the social sciences. *Higher Education Research and Development 25*(1), 53-66.

OTHER DISCIPLINES

- Bartlett, A. & Mercer, G. (1998) Cooking up a feast: Finding metaphors for feminist postgraduate supervision. *Australian Feminist Studies* 14(30), 367-75.
- Burns R., Lamm, R., & Lewis, R. (1999). Orientations to higher degree supervision: A study of supervisors and students in education. In A. Holbrook & S. Johnston (Eds.), *Supervision of postgraduate research in education* (pp. 55-74). Australian Association for Research in Education, No. 5. Victoria, Australia: AARE.
- Gill, P. & Burnard, P. (2008) The student-supervisor relationship in the PhD/Doctoral process. *British Journal of Nursing 17*(10), 668-671.

- Green, B. & Lee, A. (1999) Educational research, disciplinarity and postgraduate pedagogy: On the subject of supervision. *Review of Australian Research in Education 5*, 95-111.
- Grevholm, B., Persson, L. & Wall, P. (2005) A dynamic model for education of doctoral students and guidance of supervisors in research groups. *Educational Studies in Mathematics* 60(2), 173-197.
- Ingerman, A. (2002) *Trusting results: An exploration of physicists' conceptions of their own and others' research*. Retrieved October 6, 2009, from http://publications.lib.chalmers.se/records/fulltext/local 89941.pdf
- Ingerman, A. & Booth, S. (2003) Expounding on physics: A phenomenographic study of physicists talking of their physics. *International Journal of Science Education 25*(12), 1489-1508.
- Pole, C.J. & Sprokkereef, A. (1997) Supervision of doctoral students in the natural sciences: Expectations and experiences. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education 22*(1), 49-63.

SUPERVISORY ROLES AND STYLES

- Deuchar, R. (2008) Facilitator, director or critical friend?: Contradiction and congruence in doctoral supervision styles. *Teaching in Higher Education* 13(4), 489-500.
- Egan, R., Stockley, D., Brouwer, B., Tripp, D. & Stechyson, N. (2009) Relationships between area of academic concentration, supervisory style, student needs and best practices. *Studies in Higher Education 34*(3), 337-345.
- Gurr, G. (2001) Negotiating the 'rackety bridge': A dynamic model for aligning supervisory style with research student development. *Higher Education Research & Development 20*(1), 81-92.
- Ingleby, R. & Chung, M. (2009) Cultural issues in commencing the supervision of Chinese research students. *Australian Universities' Review 51*(2), 42-48.
- Reidy, J. & Green, P. (2005) Collaborative knowledge management and the art of coaching: Reflections on the diverse roles of the successful supervisor. In P. Green (Ed). *Supervising postgraduate research:*Contexts and processes, theories and practices (pp. 48-69). Melbourne: RMIT University Press.

OTHER USEFUL MATERIALS

- Bowden, J. & Marton, F. (1998) *The university of learning: Beyond quality and competence in higher education*. London: Kogan Page.
- Pearson, M. (2005) Changing contexts for research education: Implications for supervisor development. In Green, P. (Ed.) *Supervising postgraduate research: Contexts and processes, theories and practices* (pp. 11-29). Melbourne: RMIT Press.
- Zuber-Skerritt, O. & Ryan, Y. (Eds.) (1994) Quality in postgraduate education. London: Kogan Page.